**RECEIVED**

**Dec 20 2021**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
L. Casey Manning, Circuit Court Judge  
Joseph M. Strickland, Master-in-Equity

---

Appellate Case No. 2021-000539  
Case No. 2020-CP-40-3674

---

Ammon L. “Treigh” Sullivan, ..... Respondent,

v.

Richland County School District One and  
South Carolina Department of Education, ..... Defendants,

Of which, South Carolina Department of Education, is ..... Appellant.

---

**INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

ANDREW F. LINDEMANN  
LINDEMANN & DAVIS, P.A.  
5 Calendar Court, Suite 202  
Post Office Box 6923  
Columbia, South Carolina 29260

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- I. Did the trial court err in entering a default judgment against a state agency in contravention of Rule 55(e), SCRCP?
- II. Did the trial court err in entering a default judgment where the Respondent's Complaint failed to state a cause of action against the Appellant?
- III. Did the trial court err in failing to set aside the entry of default where the Appellant demonstrated "good cause" under Rule 55(c)?
- IV. Did the trial court err in refusing to apply the Frow doctrine and thus refusing to delay the entry of a default judgment against the Appellant until the case is fully adjudicated against all Defendants?

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

The Respondent Ammon L. “Treigh” Sullivan is an employee of Richland County School District One (“RCSD”). In his Complaint, the Respondent alleges that during much of his tenure with RCSD he was denied prior years of educator experience credit, specifically credit for the four years that he was employed by Lexington County School District One as a teacher’s aide from 2006 through 2010. The Respondent alleges that he questioned RCSD’s determination that he had zero years of educator experience credit when he began his employment in 2010 and at other times thereafter. The Respondent does not allege in his Complaint that he challenged the amount of educator experience credit directly to the Appellant South Carolina Department of Education (“SCDE”).

The Respondent has alleged several causes of action against the Defendant RCSD including a claim pursuant to the Wage Payment Act, breach of contract, unjust enrichment, and negligence. In addition, the Respondent has alleged a single cause of action for negligence against the Appellant SCDE. Specifically, the Respondent alleges that SCDE breached its “duty to maintain and accurately report South Carolina teacher’s credentials, including, but not limited to, a teacher’s applicable years of experience.” *See*, Complaint, ¶ 53. The Respondent alleges that this duty of care arises by regulation, specifically S.C. Code Regs. § 43-57.2, which states that an educator may receive “experience credit” by “verify[ing] full-time or

half-time employment” in various categories of educational positions. *See*, Complaint, ¶ 18. Moreover, S.C. Code Regs. § 43-57 provides that “[t]he State Department of Education shall maintain records indicating the work experience for which persons are entitled.”

The Respondent’s Complaint was filed on August 3, 2020. The Appellant SCDE was served on August 17, 2020; however, it did not file a timely answer or other responsive pleading. The Clerk of Court made an entry of default on October 29, 2020. Thereafter, on November 2, 2020, the Appellant SCDE filed a motion seeking to set aside that entry of default. That motion was denied in summary fashion by Circuit Court Judge L. Casey Manning by Order filed January 13, 2021. In that same Order, Judge Manning referred the case – presumably pursuant to Rule 53(b), SCRCF – “for the purpose of a hearing to determine the Plaintiff’s damages to be entered against Defendant South Carolina Department of Education.” *See*, Order filed January 13, 2021. A subsequent Rule 59(e) motion was also denied by Judge Manning in summary fashion.

On October 26, 2020, the Respondent filed a motion captioned as a “Motion for Entry of Default against Defendant South Carolina Department of Education.” That motion contains a misnomer in the caption given that an entry of default is a ministerial function performed by the Clerk of Court which does not require a motion or court action. *See*, Rule 55(a), SCRCF. *See also*, *Stark Truss Co., Inc. v. Superior*

*Construction Corp.*, 360 S.C. 503, 602 S.E.2d 99, 102 (Ct. App. 2004) (“[e]ntry of default is a ministerial act which a clerk is required to perform once default is made to appear by the affidavit of the moving party”). In contrast, the entry of a default judgment requires an application or motion to be made and requires an order of the court. Rule 55(b)(1), SCRCF (requiring a "motion or application of the party seeking default"); Rule 55(b)(2), SCRCF ("the party entitled to a judgment by default shall apply to the court therefor"); Rule 55(b)(2), SCRCF (the defaulting party "shall be served with written notice of the motion or application for judgment"). The motion filed by the Respondent October 26, 2020, nonetheless, requests a "default judgment as to Respondent's claims against said Defendant [SCDE]." Judge Manning's Order filed January 13, 2021, did not adjudicate that motion. Instead, that motion was referred to the Master-in-Equity for adjudication.

On April 7, 2021, a hearing was held before Judge Joseph M. Strickland, who is the Richland County Master-in-Equity. During the hearing, Judge Strickland expressed doubt as to whether he was permitted by the Order of Reference to enter a default judgment as opposed to simply holding a damages hearing. Nonetheless, with his final Order on Damages, filed May 11, 2021, Judge Strickland did adjudicate the Respondent's motion for a default judgment. He heard and denied the Appellant SCDE's arguments against the entry of a default judgment, including the argument that Rule 55(e) precludes the entry of a default

judgment against a state agency where the Respondent failed to demonstrate his entitlement to a judgment as a matter of law. Judge Strickland also held a damages hearing where he received testimony from the Respondent. Ultimately, he issued a final Order on Damages, filed May 11, 2021. The Order entered a default judgment in the amount of \$37,724.13 in favor of the Respondent and against the Appellant SCDE.

The Appellant thereafter filed a timely appeal to this Court.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

“The decision whether to set aside an entry of default or a default judgment lies solely within the sound discretion of the trial judge.” *Stark Truss Co., Inc. v. Superior Construction Corp.*, 360 S.C. 503, 602 S.E.2d 99, 101 (Ct. App. 2004). “This decision will not be reversed absent an abuse of that discretion.” *Id.* “An abuse of discretion occurs when the [circuit court’s] ruling is based upon an error of law or, when based upon factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support.” *Fontaine v. Peitz*, 291 S.C. 536, 354 S.E.2d 565, 566 (1987).

Moreover, in evaluating the allegations of a Complaint for purposes a default judgment, only "well pled facts" are to be treated as true. *See, Masters v. Rodgers Development Group*, 283 S.C. 251, 321 S.E.2d 194, 196 (1984) (defaulting party admits "facts well pleaded in complaint"); *State ex rel. Medlock v. Love Shop, Ltd*, 286 S.C. 486, 334 S.E.2d 528, 530 (Ct. App. 1985) ("entry of an order of default is an admission by the defaulting party of the well-pleaded allegations of the complaint"). In contrast, issues of law -- which are not "well pled facts" -- are for the Court and are reviewed *de novo*. *Doe v. Bishop of Charleston*, 407 S.C. 128, 754 S.E.2d 494, 498 (2014). As this Court has previously explained in a related context, "the court is required to presume all well pled facts, not propositions of law, to be true." *HHHunt Corp. v. Town of Lexington*, 389 S.C. 623, 699 S.E.2d 699, 705 (Ct. App. 2010).

## ARGUMENTS

### **I. The Respondent has not proven his entitlement to a judgment by default against a state agency per the requirements of Rule 55(e), SCRCP.**

The trial court entered a default judgment against the Appellant SCDE, which is indisputably a state agency. *See*, S.C. Code Ann. § 1-30-10(A). However, a judgment by default may not be entered against SCDE pursuant to Rule 55(e), SCRCP, which provides that “[n]o judgment by default shall be entered against the State of South Carolina or an officer or agency thereof ... unless the claimant establishes his claim to relief by evidence satisfactory to the Court.” Rule 55(e), SCRCP. The trial court failed to properly interpret and apply Rule 55(e).

Rule 55(e) was adopted from the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. There is no appellate opinion that applies Rule 55(e). In its recent decision in *Campbell v. City of North Charleston*, 431 S.C. 454, 848 S.E.2d 788 (Ct. App. 2020), the Court of Appeals did not directly address the application of Rule 55(e) because it was not an issue raised on appeal. However, the Court did note in the procedural history of the case that the Circuit Court had found Rule 55(e) to be inapplicable because the defendant was “not a state agency under Rule 55(e).” 848 S.E.2d at 791. *Campbell* is readily distinguishable because the defendant at issue in this case is a state agency.

Given the absence of governing law on a rule of civil procedure, the Supreme Court directs that courts seek guidance from case law interpreting and applying the

equivalent federal rule. In *Gardner v. Newsome Chevrolet-Buick, Inc.*, 304 S.C. 328, 404 S.E.2d 200 (1991), the Supreme Court states: “Since our Rules of Procedure are based on the Federal Rules, where there is no South Carolina law, we look to the construction placed on the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.” 404 S.E.2d at 201.

The federal equivalent rule is now codified as Rule 55(d), FRCP, although it was formerly Rule 55(e). Using essentially the same operative language of the state rule, the Federal rule states: “A default judgment may be entered against the United States, its officers, or its agencies only if the claimant establishes a claim or right to relief by evidence that satisfies the court.” Rule 55(d), FRCP. As the District Court in South Carolina has explained, “Rule 55(d) is intended to prevent the entry of default judgments against the United States for mere procedural missteps.” *Burr v. United States*, 2010 WL 11674099, \*3 (D.S.C. 2010). The District Court cited favorably to *Sun v. United States*, 342 F.Supp.2d 1120 (N.D. Ga. 2004), which ruled that “entry of default judgment against the United States will not be based on a failure to file an answer or responsive pleading.” 342 F.Supp.2d at 1124. The District Court also cited to *Arevalo v. United States*, 2008 WL 3874795 (E.D. Pa. 2008), which ruled that Rule 55(d) “is intended to prevent entry of a default judgment against the United States for procedural flaws” and that “judgment cannot be entered against the government based solely on its failure to comply with civil rules.” 2008 WL 3874795, \*6. *See also, Moore v. United Kingdom*, 384 F.3d 1079,

1090, n.16 (9th Cir. 2009) (noting that Rule 55(e) is “interpreted as requiring district courts to reach the merits of a Respondent’s claim before entering a default judgment against the government”). Rule 55(d), as previously codified as Rule 55(e), embodies the principle that it is contrary to public policy for a governmental entity to be held in default unless liability of the governmental may be proven on the merits. *See also, Compania Interamericana Export-Import, S.A. v. Compania Dominicana de Aviacion*, 88 F.3d 948, 951 (11th Cir. 1996) (“Rule 55(e) rests on the rationale that the taxpayers at large should not be subjected to the cost of a judgment entered as a penalty against a government official which comes as a windfall to the individual litigant”). The Appellant SCDE submits that this federal case law interpreting the equivalent rule in the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure should be controlling.

Thus, Rule 55(e), by its very language, places the burden on the Respondent to "establish[] his *claim to relief* by evidence satisfactory to the Court.” Rule 55(e), SCRCF. (Emphasis added). The Respondent need not only prove his relief, i.e., damages, but he is also required to demonstrate his "claim to relief," meaning he is required to show that he is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. The Respondent has made no such showing.

SCDE has presented the affidavit of Mary Hipp, the Director of the Office of Educator Services, to demonstrate that the SCDE has numerous meritorious defenses. Hipp explains that her office maintains records of educator experience credit, but that

“all educator experience must be submitted on an Experience Verification Form completed by the employer” and that “[i]t is the educator’s responsibility to provide verification of educator experience to obtain credit.” *See*, Hipp Aff., ¶ 4. She further attests that with respect to the Respondent, “the first request to add educator experience for the employment as an ISS Monitor was submitted by Lexington County School District One and received on June 26, 2019, ... and the experience credit was added to Mr. Sullivan’s certificate the following day.” *See*, Hipp Aff., ¶ 7. Hipp explained that “[t]here is not indication in the certification record that Mr. Sullivan requested a review of the educator experience credit on file prior to the Lexington County School District One submitting the Experience Verification form in June 2019.” *See*, Hipp Aff., ¶ 8. Based on that testimony, there is ample evidence that the Defendant SCDE was not negligent as alleged.

Additionally, at the damages hearing, the Respondent confirmed Mary Hipp's testimony. He testified that prior to June 2019, he had never submitted an Experience Verification Form to SCDE to add educator experience for his four years of employment with Lexington County School District One. (Tr. 56:17-20). He did not request that Human Resources with Lexington County School District One submit an Experience Verification Form until June 2019, because he was not aware of S.C. Code Regs. § 43-57.2. (Tr. 58-59). He learned of that regulation from a friend in 2019. (Tr. 58-59). And, once he learned of the regulation, he understood

that he needed to submit an Experience Verification Form. (Tr. 62). After the Experience Verification Form was submitted, the Respondent agrees that SCDE credited him with the additional years of educator experience within weeks. (Tr. 32).

In short, based on the Respondent's own testimony, he cannot show that SCDE was negligent in failing to document his years of experience or in failing to update his years of experience. SCDE did just that after receiving the Experience Verification Form completed by Lexington County School District One.

Instead, given his testimony, the Respondent's negligence claim is premised solely on his factual allegation – which is not in the Complaint – that he called SCDE and spoke to unidentified persons in 2010, and was not advised of S.C. Code Regs. § 43-57.2. (Tr. 56-58). The Plaintiff concedes that his alleged calls to SCDE occurred only in 2010 (Tr. 60-62), which thus demonstrates that the Plaintiff's claims against SCDE for acts or omission in 2010 are barred by the two-year statute of limitations under the Tort Claims Act. *See*, S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-110. Moreover, as stated, the Plaintiff's claim is premised solely on the alleged failure by SCDE to advise him as to S.C. Code Regs. § 43-57.2, which is a law. There can be no disputing that regulations are laws. (Tr. 59-60). *See, Goodman v. City of Columbia*, 318 S.C. 488, 458 S.E.2d 531, 532 (1995) ("[r]egulations authorized by the legislature have the force of law"). Yet, as this Court has held, "[c]itizens are presumed to know the law and are charged with exercising reasonable care to protect their interests." *American*

*Legion Post 18 v. Horry County*, 381 S.C. 576, 674 S.E.2d 181, 185 (Ct. App. 2009). Thus, misrepresentations or even silence regarding a matter of law are not actionable as a negligence misrepresentation under South Carolina law. See, *Carolina Chloride, Inc. v. Richland County*, 394 S.C. 154, 714 S.E.2d 869, 875 (2011) ("no action will generally lie for a misrepresentation as to a matter of law"). In other words, the failure to provide advice as to what the law requires is not actionable.<sup>1</sup>

In sum, Rule 55(e) provides that a default judgment cannot be entered against the State or its agencies without a showing that a plaintiff will prevail as a matter of law on the merits. Here, the Respondent has not shown that SCDE is actually liable as a matter of law. In fact, SCDE has demonstrated numerous meritorious defenses, including the absence of an actionable duty of care. Thus, where the Respondent cannot establish his claim to relief, Rule 55(e) requires the no judgment by default may be entered against SCDE. The default judgment should be reversed.

**II. The Respondent's negligence claim fails to state a cause of action against the Appellant SCDE, and based on Supreme Court precedent, the rendering of a default judgment thereon is without authority of law.**

In addition, and as a corollary to the requirements of Rule 55(e), SCRCPP, the Respondent cannot demonstrate that his Fifth Cause of Action even states a cause of

---

<sup>1</sup> In *Quail Hill, LLC v. Richland County*, 387 S.C. 223, 692 S.E.2d 499, 508 (2010), the Supreme Court determined that the plaintiff's negligence claim "should be treated as solely one for negligent misrepresentation." The same is true here.

action upon which relief may be granted against the Defendant SCDE. South Carolina law provides that "if a complaint fails to state a cause of action, then rendering of a default judgment thereon is without authority of law and therefore reversible error." *Masters v. Rodgers Development Group*, 283 S.C. 251, 321 S.E.2d 194, 196 (1984). "An objection that the complaint does not state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action is not waived by a default." *Id.* See also, *Mutual Savings & Loan Assn. v. McKenzie*, 274 S.C. 630, 266 S.E.2d 423 (1980).

As discussed above, in his Complaint, the Respondent alleges only a negligence cause of action against the Appellant SCDE. The Respondent alleges that the SCDE breached its "duty to maintain and accurately report South Carolina teacher's credentials, including, but not limited to, a teacher's applicable years of experience." See, Complaint, ¶ 53. The Respondent alleges that this duty of care arises by regulation, specifically S.C. Code Regs. § 43-57.2, which states that an educator may receive "experience credit" by "verify[ing] full-time or half-time employment" in various categories of educational positions. See, Complaint, ¶ 18. Moreover, S.C. Code Regs. § 43-57 provides that "[t]he State Department of Education shall maintain records indicating the work experience for which persons are entitled." SCDE argues that the regulations on which the Respondent bases the duty of care give rise only to a "public duty," and as a result, the Respondent has failed to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action. In other words, SCDE

submits that S.C. Code Regs. § 43-57 does not give rise to a private right of action based upon application of the public duty rule.

This premise is well supported in the case law. The Supreme Court has recognized that "statutes which create or define the duties of a public office have the essential purpose of providing for the structure and operation of government or for securing the general welfare and safety of the public. Such statutes create no duty of care towards individual members of the general public." *Arthurs v. Aiken County*, 346 S.C. 97, 551 S.E.2d 579, 582 (2001). *See also, Platt v. CSX Transportation, Inc.*, 379 S.C. 249, 665 S.E.2d 631 (Ct. App. 2008). A plaintiff, therefore, has no right of action against a public officer or entity for breach of a duty owing to the public only, even though such plaintiff may have been injured by the breach of that public duty. *Summers v. Harrison Const.*, 298 S.C. 451, 381 S.E.2d 493 (Ct. App. 1989). "The public duty rule is a negative defense which denies an essential element of the plaintiff's cause of action: the existence of a duty of care to the individual plaintiff." *Arthurs*, 551 S.E.2d at 582. In other words, the public duty rule "is a rule of statutory construction, that is, a means of determining whether the legislative body that enacted the statute or ordinance intended to create a private cause of action for its breach." *Id.*

Additionally, the Appellant SCDE submits that, even if S.C. Code Regs. § 43-57 gives rise to a private right of action against SCDE, the Respondent still cannot

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