RECEIVED

Feb 18 2022

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
L. Casey Manning, Circuit Court Judge
Joseph M. Strickland, Master-in-Equity

Appellate Case No.: 2021-000539
Case No.: 2020-CP-40-3674

Ammon L. “Treigh” SullivanRespondent,

v.

Richland County School District One and
South Carolina Department of Education Defendants,

Of which, South Carolina Department of Education, isAppellant.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Ryan K. Hicks (#100941)
Cromer Babb Porter & Hicks, LLC
1418 Laurel Street, Suite A
Post Office Box 11675
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
Phone 803-799-9530
Facsimile 803-799-9533

Attorneys for Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE APPELLANT FAILED TO PRESERVE ISSUES ON APPEAL.

“Where an issue is neither raised nor ruled upon by the trial court, and is not raised in a post-trial motion, the issue is not preserved for appellate review.” *U.S. Fire Ins. Co. v. Macloskie*, 320 S.C. 459, 465 S.E.2d 759, 763 (Ct. App. 1995).

Much like in *Campbell*, Appellant only filed a motion to set aside pursuant Rule 55(c) and a subsequent Rule 59(e) motion – both prior to the default judgment being entered. *Campbell v. City of North Charleston*, 431 S.C. 454, 461, 848 S.E.2d 788, 792 (Ct. App 2020). Appellant did not file any motions following the Order on Damages, but instead immediately appealed. *Supra*. While the Court in *Campbell* opined that the issue of whether the court erred in refusing to set aside the default was properly before the Court, it should reason that Appellant is constrained to the arguments it made at that time. Specifically, there is a longstanding preservation requirement that the losing party “must both present his issues and arguments to the lower court and obtain a ruling before an appellate court will review those issues and arguments.” *I’On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000). “If the losing party has raised an issue in the lower court, but the court fails to rule upon it, the party must file a motion to alter or amend the judgment in order to preserve the issue for appellate review.” *Id.* Appellant has failed to do so.

In its motion to set aside default, Appellant set forth three (3) arguments: (1) that Rule 55(e), SCRCF, precluded a default; (2) Respondent failed to state a cause of action upon which relief may be granted; and (3) that it had shown “good cause.” In his Order, Judge Manning ruled that Appellant had failed to establish “good cause” and that the *Wham* factors were otherwise moot.²

Appellant then filed its motion to reconsider where it again identified similar arguments as before: (1) that Rule 55(e), SCRCF, precluded a default; (2) no claim upon which relief may be granted; and (3) “good cause.” The Rule 59(e) motion to reconsider was absent any mention

² Neither Rule 55(e), SCRCF, nor *Frow* were addressed in this Order.

to *Frow*.³ Appellant’s motion to reconsider also lacked specificity as to its arguments of the *Wham* factors.⁴ On January 26, 2021, Judge Manning entered an Order denying Appellant’s motion to reconsider without further substantive holding, and referred the matter to the Master-in-Equity.

When argument is made before trial judge but not addressed in final order, Rule 59(e) motion is necessary to preserve for appellate review. *Hancock v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.*, 355 S.C. 168, 171, 584 S.E.2d 398, 399 (Ct. App. 2003). Appellant’s argument as to *Frow*, if any, was not addressed in the Order entered January 13, 2021, and was not at all addressed in Appellant’s Rule 59(e) motion. Moreover, Appellant’s argument as to *Frow* (only set forth in the motion to set aside default) and *Wham* lacked specificity.⁵ *S.C. Dep’t of Transp. v. First Carolina Corp. of S.C.*, 372 S.C. 295, 301–02, 641 S.E.2d 903, 907 (2007) (finding that for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, it must have been: “(1) raised to and ruled upon by the trial court, (2) raised by the appellant, (3) raised in a timely manner, and (4) raised to the trial court with sufficient specificity”). Accordingly, Appellant’s argument(s) as to *Frow* and *Wham* are not preserved for appellate review; all that is preserved are those arguments specified in Appellant’s Rule 59(e) motion filed January 25, 2021.⁶

³ Appellant admits that the prior order provided no analysis on *Frow* yet it failed to file a Rule 59(e) motion as to such arguments. [Appellant Brief, p. 19].

⁴ Respondent maintains that analysis of the *Wham* factors is moot as there is no “good cause.” *Infra*.

⁵ The motion *only* provides: “Additionally, even if the entry of default is not set aside, the application of the *Frow* doctrine will not allow the entry of default judgment against SCDE until the case is fully adjudicated against the Defendant School District. *See, Frow v. De La Vega*, 82 U.S. (15 Wall) 552 (1872).” The motion to reconsider does not list the *Wham* factors.

⁶ Nor did the Order on Damages address *Frow*, *Wham*, or any of Appellant’s arguments for that matter, even assuming *arguendo* the Court reviewed that Order for substantive rulings by the court for preservation purposes. *See, Blake v. Cannon*, 312 S.C. 135, 439 S.E.2d 302 (Ct. App. 1993).

Appellant also seeks to set forth arguments, or implications, as to Judge Strickland's findings, which are also not preserved and should be ignored on appeal. Appellant first insinuates that Judge Strickland "expressed doubt" as to whether he was permitted to enter default judgment. [Appellant Brief, p. 4]. Respondent takes exception to that recollection and does not recall Judge Strickland indicating as such, but would rely on the transcript of that hearing. Notwithstanding, Judge Strickland's Order on Damages does not substantively address these alluded to arguments of Appellant and holds that such arguments had previously been ruled on by Judge Manning and referred to him for a hearing on damages. Again, Appellant failed to file a Rule 59(e) motion in response to this Order to preserve any such argument(s).

Finally, on March 31, 2021, Appellant filed a Memorandum in Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion for Default Judgment. This filing came more than two (2) months after the Order Denying Defendant South Carolina Department of Education's Motion to Alter or Amend Order or Motion to Reconsider, and was provided to Judge Strickland in anticipation of the damages hearing. Notably, the record is absent a "Motion for Default Judgment" and Appellant's memorandum did not accompany a motion filing. Accordingly, the document and arguments set forth therein were also not preserved, the memorandum is ripe to be stricken from the record, and should not be included in the record on appeal.

Based on the foregoing, Appellant failed to preserve its argument on appeal as to *Frow* and *Wham*, and at-best preserved only those arguments identified with specificity in its Rule 59(e) motion filed January 25, 2021.

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING APPELLANT’S MOTION TO SET ASIDE ENTRY OF DEFAULT.

Appellant first argues that the circuit court erred in entering default based upon Rule 55(e), SCRCF. Appellant, both in its Initial Brief and before the lower court, insinuates that Rule 55(e), SCRCF, bars a default against a state agency. Such a conclusion is misguided.

In its entirety, Rule 55(e), SCRCF provides:

Judgment Against the State and Certain Other Parties. No judgment by default shall be entered against the State of South Carolina or an officer or agency thereof, against minors, incompetents, or parties to a suit for divorce or annulment of marriage or against a party upon whom service of summons was made by publication, and who did not subsequently make an appearance in the action, or in any in rem action, unless the claimant establishes his claim to relief by evidence satisfactory to the Court.

Rule 55(e), SCRCF (emphasis added). Similarly, Rule 55(d), FRCP provides:

Judgment Against the United States. A default judgment may be entered against the United States, its officers, or its agencies if the claimant establishes a claim or right to relief by evidence that satisfies the court.

Rule 55(d), FRCP. In both instances, a default judgment is not barred as against the State of South Carolina and/or the United States, but only requires that the claimant establish the claim to the satisfaction of the court.

Appellant points out, and Respondent does not disagree, that it is a state agency otherwise subject to Rule 55(e), SCRCF. However, that is not a ‘free pass’ on being subject to default. Rather, it just qualifies, if at all, the manner in which a default is obtained. Stated differently, the requirement of Rule 55(e) does not overzealously change the requirements of Rule 55(b), which permits the court may conduct a hearing or order as it deems necessary in order to enter judgment. Rule 55(b), SCRCF. Appellant’s suggestion that “Rule 55(e) provides that a default judgment cannot be entered against the State or its agencies without a showing that a plaintiff

will prevail as a matter of law on the merits” is simply a misstatement of law and is not codified anywhere in South Carolina law. [Appellant Brief, p. 12].

“The cardinal rule of statutory construction is to ascertain and effectuate the intent of the legislature.” *Garvin v. State*, 365 S.C. 16, 21, 615 S.E.2d 451, 453 (2005). “A statute should be given a reasonable and practical construction consistent with the purpose and policy expressed in the statute.” *Id.* The first question of statutory interpretation is whether the statute is clear on its face. *Wade v. Berkeley County*, 348 S.C. 224, 229, 559 S.E.2d 586, 588 (2002) (citations omitted). Moreover, “[w]here the statutes language is plain and unambiguous, and conveys a clear and definite meaning, the rules of statutory interpretation are not needed and the Court has no right to impose another meaning.” *Vaughn v. Bernhardt*, 345 S.C. 196, 198, 547 S.E.2d 869, 870 (2001) (citations omitted). Such analysis also applies to court rules. Here, the rule could not be any clearer: default shall be entered if the claimant establishes relief by evidence satisfactory to the Court; that was done three (3) times over.

The cases cited by Appellant are no more persuasive to its argument. First, *Campbell*, does not address Rule 55(e), SCRCP aside from noting that “the City was not a state agency under the rule. *Campbell*, 431 S.C. at 459. Second, *Burr* involved criminal proceedings, and qualified that the “‘presumption-against-defaulting’ the government is especially strong when the movant is seeking criminal habeas relief...” *Burr v. United States*, 2010 WL 11674099, *3 (D.S.C. 2010). *Sun* was again a criminal conviction case. *Sun v. U.S.*, 342 F.Supp.2d 1120 (N.D. Ga. 2004).

a. Good Cause⁷

Rule 55(c) permits a party to move to set aside the entry of default. The standard for granting relief from an entry of default under Rule 55(c) is “good cause.” *Sundown Operating Co. v. Intedge Indus., Inc.*, 383 S.C. 601, 607, 681 S.E.2d 885, 888 (2009) (quoting Rule 55(c), SCRCP). The “good cause” standard “requires a party seeking relief from an entry of default under Rule 55(c) to provide an explanation for the default and give reasons why vacation of the default entry would serve the interests of justice.” *Sundown Operating Co.*, 383 S.C. at 608, 681 S.E.2d at 888. Whether good cause is established is within the sound discretion of the court. *Williams v. Vanvolkenburg*, 312 S.C. 373, 440 S.E.2d 408, 409 (Ct. App. 1994).

“This standard requires a party seeking relief from an entry of default...to provide an explanation for the default and give reasons why vacation of the default entry would serve the interests of justice.” *Id.* Only after the party has set forth a reasonable explanation should the Court consider the *Wham* factors. *Id.* (emphasis added).

Appellant avers that it has shown “good cause” through the affidavit of Cathy Hazelwood, Deputy Superintendent of Legal Affairs, an attorney licensed to practice law in South Carolina. In pertinent part, Appellant argues that “extraordinary circumstances encountered by SCDE personnel primary due to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic” caused the failure to timely file an answer. [Appellant Brief, p. 16]. Curiously, the argument made by Appellant closely resembles that set forth in *Campbell*. *Campbell*, 431 S.C. at 454.

In its motion and supporting Affidavit, Appellant admitted: (1) the Summons and Complaint was properly served; (2) the Complaint was sent to the South Carolina Insurance Reserve Fund (“IRF”) as is normal procedure; (3) that on September 15, 2020, Appellant’s

⁷ Appellant’s arguments as to good cause are set forth in Section III of its argument.

Deputy Superintendent of Legal Affairs received notice that the IRF was denying coverage⁸; (4) that approval to employ associate counsel was approved and forwarded to the Attorney General on September 17, 2020; (5) that Appellant “regrettably did not take the necessary action to obtain an extension of time from Respondent’s counsel; (6) “as a result of oversight and miscommunication internally, the Summons and Complaint was not forwarded to outside counsel until after an email was received from [Respondent’s] Counsel on October 29, 2020, with a copy of the Order of Entry of Default”; and (7) Appellant did not file its Motion to Set Aside until November 2, 2020. [Affidavit of Cathy L. Hazelwood, pp. 1-2].

Campbell easily disposes of this as “good cause.” *Id.* In *Campbell*, the City of North Charleston move to set aside an entry of default arguing its “failure to forward an e-mail to its risk manager was an administrative ‘mistake from inadvertence,’ which satisfied the ‘mere’ good case standard.” *Id.* The City further argued that it had satisfied the *Wham* factors, and further that it was “good public policy for the State of South Carolina to be heard on the merits.” *Id.* The Court held that the circuit court did not abuse its discretion by finding the City’s failure to forward an internal e-mail was not good cause warranting the court to set aside the entry of default. *Id.* (citing *Roche* wherein the Supreme Court held that failure to forward a summons and complaint after receiving it did not constitute inadvertence or excusable neglect. *Roche v. Young Bros. of Florence*, 318 S.C. 207, 210-12 (1995)). Moreover, in *Campbell*, as in the instant matter, it was not disputed that the complaint was properly served and that it failed to forward the complaint, but only that the failure was “out of character.” *Id.*; see also Affidavit of Cathy L. Hazelwood, ¶ 8.

⁸ This response by the IRF was still within Defendant’s thirty (30) days to answer or otherwise plead.

Moreover, here, Appellant’s argument that COVID-19 caused the inadvertence is counterintuitive as Appellant was able to timely forward the Summons and Complaint to the IRF only days after receipt; it is nonsensical to think that the pandemic did not interfere with its submission to the IRF seeking coverage but later interfered with its ability to forward to outside counsel once it was returned. Appellant also received the denial from the IRF within the timeline to answer or otherwise plead, or certainly to have requested an extension of time.

Even more, this “inadvertence” was carried out by an attorney – Hazelwood. While not directly representing Appellant in the lower court matter, her knowledge as an attorney is influential. “In South Carolina, negligence on the part of an attorney is imputable to the client and will not be the basis of finding good cause to set aside entry of default.” *Limehouse v. Hulsey*, 397 S.C. 49, 723 S.E.2d 211, 223 (Ct. App. 2011); *see also, Williams*, 312 S.C. 373, 440 S.E.2d at 409.

Based on the foregoing, the trial court did not abuse its discretion by finding that Appellant failed to establish “good cause.”

b. Wham factors

“Once a party has put forth a satisfactory explanation for the default, the trial court must also consider: (1) the timing of the motion for relief; (2) whether the defendant has a meritorious defense; and (3) the degree of prejudice to the plaintiff if relief is granted.” *Id.* at 607-08, 681 S.E.2d at 888 (citing *Wham v. Shearson Lehman Bros., Inc.*, 298 S.C. 462, 465, 381 S.E.2d499, 501-02 (Ct. App. 1989)). The *Wham* factors are considered only if a satisfactory explanation for the default has been shown. Moreover, “the trial court need not make specific findings of fact for each factor if there is sufficient evidentiary support on the record for the finding of the lack of good cause.” *Sundown Operating Co.*, 383 S.C. at 607-08, 681 S.E.2d at 888.

Here, the trial court determined that Appellant had failed to establish “good cause” thus analysis of the *Wham* factors was not necessary, nor were specific findings required to be made. *Dixon v. Besco Engineering, Inc.*, 320 S.C. 174, 463 S.E.2d 636, 639 (Ct. App. 1995) (“The trial judge will not be reversed for failing to make specific findings of fact on the record for each factor if there is sufficient evidentiary support on the record for the finding of the lack of good cause.”). Appellant further failed to preserve any argument(s) on appeal as to the *Wham* factors even assuming the Court was inclined to find “good cause.” *Supra*.

III. THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT ERR IN ENTERING DEFAULT JUDGMENT AGAINST APPELLANT.

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